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I. INTRODUCTION 

1  Staff submits this reply brief to address three issues: (1) the proper pricing of power 

in PacifiCorp’s WIJAM balancing adjustment, (2) the proper allocation of hedging benefits, 

and (3) the desirability of an audit into the dispatch of PacifiCorp’s Chehalis and Hermiston 

plants. The Commission should order PacifiCorp to price the Balancing Adjustment using 

Mid-C pricing as Mid-C provides the most accurate information for the Washington power 

market and is more transparent as pricing data is more readily available. It should also order 

PacifiCorp to allocated hedges on a system basis, just as it hedges. Any other allocation 

process is inequitable and needlessly raises Washington prices. Finally, the Commission 

should order an external audit of dispatch of Chehalis and Hermiston since there is evidence 

indicating that dispatch is uneconomical and PacifiCorp does retain control over the 

procedures that provide the data informing dispatch decisions.  

II. DISCUSSION 

A. Valuing the WIJAM Balancing Adjustment at Mid-C Provides the Most 

Accurate Pricing for Power Delivered to Washington Customers. 

 

1. Mid-C pricing is the appropriate valuation of the WIJAM Balancing 

Adjustment. 

 

2  Public Counsel argues that the WIJAM Balancing Adjustment be valued based on 

the actual costs incurred. The WIJAM Balancing Adjustment is itself “a deviation from a 

strict cost-of-service approach to net power costs.”1 This is because the PacifiCorp system 

includes resources not directly allocated to Washington customers, and thus an accounting 

adjustment is made to reflect the value of power supplied to Washington.2 So the question 

comes down to how to value this power, and the answer is that it should be valued at Mid-C 

                                                 
1 Wilson, Exh. JDW-1CT at 37:6-7.  
2 Wilson, Exh. JDW-1CT at 37:8-11. 
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prices. As stated in Staff’s previous briefing, system transactions are an inappropriate 

benchmark for valuation. System transaction prices and costs are already included in net 

power costs, so the WIJAM Balancing Adjustment essentially causes these purchases to be 

sold a second time.3 Using system prices also has constraints and may result in higher prices 

since those prices fail to take into account factors such as transmission availability, which 

may cause system prices to be higher for Washington customers than purchase power prices 

at Mid-C or generation at Chehalis.4 

3  In the absence of cost-of-service valuation, Mid-C pricing is the fairest benchmark 

for Washington customers. These prices are reflective of the Washington market and are a 

transparent benchmark.5 These prices are not determined by PacifiCorp, but rather the 

collective actions of multiple buyers and sellers. These are added benefits that protect 

customers from potential improper costs. Reliance on a western market for pricing is also 

more reflective of the realities for Washington customers and thus provides a fairer 

valuation of the power being delivered to these customers.   

2. PacifiCorp’s concern over Mid-C price increases is misplaced. 

 

4  PacifiCorp contends that higher Mid-C prices in 2023 are indicative of long-term 

price increases at the Mid-C hub. However, a higher average price at Mid-C over a one year 

period is not indicative of a trend moving forward. Additionally, PacifiCorp has not 

provided evidence that the CCA was the cause of these price increases, as it contends. 

Indeed, according to Staff’s review of data from U.S. Energy Information Administration,6 

                                                 
3 Wilson, Exh. JDW-1CT at 37:12-17.  
4 Wilson, Exh. JDW-1CT at 28:5-11. 
5 Wilson, JDW-1CT at 15-19.  
6 Wholesale Electricity and Natural Gas Market Data, U.S. Energy Information Administration (Jun. 27, 

2024), https://www.eia.gov/electricity/wholesale/#history. Staff requests that the Commission take official 

notice of the data found on this website as permitted under RCW 34.05.452(5). A fact may be judicially 

noticed if it is one “ ‘not subject to reasonable dispute in that it is either (1) generally known within the 

territorial jurisdiction of the trial court or (2) capable of accurate and ready determination by resort to sources 
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particularly in the day-ahead market”15 and dismissing that evidence based on the 

conclusion that the EIM has some control over dispatch is merely pointing fingers. 

10 PacifiCorp’s claims that the plants are dispatched by the EIM based on the EIM 

footprint is also a non-starter argument. Such presentations are not only misleading but are 

veiled attempts by PacifiCorp to shed responsibility for the bid prices, plant nominating, and 

plant regulating instructions it supplies for these plants —the EIM does not supply, control, 

or regulate these factors.16 While EIM may have some control over when the plants are 

dispatched, those decisions are based on data produced by instructions supplied by 

PacifiCorp.17 These are PacifiCorp assets and responsibility for their dispatch rests with the 

Company while it controls the foundation upon which dispatch decisions are made.  

11  The requisite analysis Staff proposes requires far more data than was made available 

to Staff by PacifiCorp during this proceeding, and goes beyond what can be accomplished in 

a spreadsheet. A full audit by a third party specializing in these sorts of analyses is the most 

effective option for understanding the situations occurring at Chehalis and Hermiston.  

12 Audit costs should not be shared between PacifiCorp and ratepayers. Ratepayers 

have no control over the complex procedures that control the dispatch of gas plants. These 

are decisions purely within PacifiCorp’s control and not dependent on external factors (as 

compared to something like power costs which can be influenced by external factors, such 

as extreme weather events). Permitting PacifiCorp to recover audit costs in rates may 

(depending on the outcome of the audit) just reward the Company for poor management 

practices rather than encouraging the Company to use foresight and periodically review 

plant operating procedures to ensure that the indicators for dispatch are economically 

15 Wilson, Exh. JDW-1CT at 51:1-3. 
16 Mitchell, TR. at 38:2-10.  
17 Mitchell, Exh. RJM-4X.  
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13 

optimized. PacifiCorp may not have full control of when a plant is dispatched, but it does 

have control over the processes that inform dispatch, and if those processes are out of date or 

based on improper metrics, the responsibility for those shortcomings belong to PacifiCorp, 

not a ratepayer who would not even be permitted to obtain copies of these documents if they 

were requested.    

III. CONCLUSION

The Commission is presented with an opportunity in this proceeding to order 

constructive changes that encourage an equitable approach to PacifiCorp’s power costs. This 

starts with pricing of the WIJAM Balancing Adjustment, which should be valued on Mid-C 

prices which are a more accurate and transparent approach to valuing power in Washington 

than opaquely calculated system prices. Second, the Commission should order that the 

allocation of hedges be assigned on a system basis, just as the hedges are acquired. 

Assignment based on any other basis is just opening the door for excessive cost allocation. 

Finally, Staff has presented evidence indicating that the Chehalis and Hermiston plants are 

not being economically dispatched; however, this can only be confirmed with a full audit, 

something outside the capabilities of individuals working with spreadsheets and limited 

data. The Commission has an opportunity to ensure these plants are being run as efficiently 

as possible, and it should take it. 

 Respectfully submitted this 12th day of July, 2024.

ROBERT W. FERGUSON 
Attorney General 

/s/ Josephine R. K. Strauss, WSBA No. 58283 
Assistant Attorney General 
Office of the Attorney General 
Utilities and Transportation Division 
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Josephine.Strauss@atg.wa.go




